MANORS AND ESTATES
Barlow Manor

In ¢.1020, a survey of the estates of Archbishop of York included half of Barlow in his soke
of Sherburn.! Under Edward the Confessor, Barlow was held by Maerle-Sveinn — a major
landholder and sheriff of Lincolnshire — as part of his Drax estate. Along with most of
Maerle-Sveinn’s other lands, the whole estate had passed to Ralph Paynel by 1086, who still
held it at the foundation of Drax priory in the 1130s.

By 1205, the manor of Barlow (now distinct from Drax) was held by Henry de Berlay, and
his family remained lords here for over a century thereafter.® His son, Richard de Berley,
knight, had inherited it by 1250.* Robert de Berlay was granted free warren in his manors of
Barlow and Woodsome in 1290, and he remained lord until at least 1301.° Sir Richard de
Berlay was listed as the lord in the Nomina Villarum of 1316.°

The family lost control of the manor when Sir Richard was apparently forced to grant it to
Thomas, earl of Lancaster, for an annuity of £40 in 1321.” After the forfeiture of the earl’s
estates in 1322, the manor was held by the crown for at least five years.® Both Sir Richard
and later his widow, Segrede, petitioned the king for redress or assistance during this period.’

By the 1330s, the manor had been divided: two thirds were held by Henry, Earl of Leicester,
and one third had been regained by Segrede.'® The earl granted his portion to his son, Henry,
earl of Derby, in 1337-38, for an annual rent of 40 marks, as well as 10 marks yearly to the
king, with arrears of 51% marks.'* In 1343, the earl of Derby leased the demesnes of the
manor to Henry de Clif for seven years at an annual rent of £16 12s. 10d.*

William de Bracebridge and Maud, his wife, acquired two thirds of the manor and its lands
(with reversion of the final third) in 1347-48." William was still lord in 1361, but the descent
of the manor over the next century and a half is obscure.**
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When John Twisleton, goldsmith and later alderman of London, bought it in 1519-20, the
manor and estate was held in thirds: one third by Sir Richard Carewe, kt.; one third by Roger
Copley, esq., and Johanna his wife; and one third by Richard Devenish, esq., and Margaret
his wife.”® In 1527, John was succeeded by his son, Christopher Twisleton, who took up
residence there.’® The Barlow estate was inherited by George Twisleton, esq., in 1580, then
by Christopher Twisleton, esq., in 1612, and then by Sir George Twisleton, bart., in 1624
before passing to Catherine, his wife, at his death in 1635."

Lady Catherine had married Henry Cholmley by 1638 and they were apparently resident at
Barlow until at least 1649.'® By the 1670s, the estate had passed to Sir George’s uncle, John
Twisleton (d. 1682) of Horseman’s Place (Kent), and it presumably descended with the rest
of his estate to his successors thereafter.™

The lands attached to the manor at this time were substantial, perhaps including the entire
township. John Twisleton began the consolidation process by buying lands in Barlow at
around the same time he acquired the manor.?° By the time his son, Christopher, died in 1580,
the estate reportedly consisted of more than 1100a. of pasture and other lands.* It was
claimed that manorial demesnes were worth £500 per year from the late 1660s to the 1680s.%

The township’s lands had been split between two branches of the family by 1782, when
Francis Twisleton Thompson (d. 1793), esq., was lord of the manor and owned most of the
land, and Thomas Twisleton, the 13th Baron Saye and Sele, owned Barlow Hall.?* The manor
thereafter descended to George Thompson (d. 1800) of Sculcoates, esg., then to his son,
Joseph24Thompson (d. 1810), esq., and ultimately to Col. George Hamilton Thompson (d.
1898).

The manorial estate accounted for almost three quarters of the township’s total assessment
(excluding tithes) for the land tax of 1782, implying an estate of perhaps 1,600a. to 1,800a.%
This figure accords reasonably well with the total of 1787a. 2r. 19p. recorded for these lands
in 1847.%° It shrank slightly thereafter, as the Barlow estate comprised 1,673a. at the time of
its conveyance in the 1870s.%’
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William Henry Forester Denison, 2nd Baron Londesborough, apparently purchased the
Barlow estate from the Thompsons in the 1874.%% He was created the earl of Londesborough
in 1887 and the estate passed to his son, William Francis Henry Denison, in 1900. At the time
of the national land valuation in 1910, the 2nd earl was proprietor of 2,210a. of land in the
township, including 134a. of wood and a nine-acre game preserve.?’ In 1913, the sale of
Londesborough’s lands at Barlow was advertised, including the properties of Common Side
Farm, Hooks Farm and Cottages, Barlow Hall, White House Farm, Park Farm, Villa Farm,
Mill House, Braken House, the Brown Cow Inn and Barlow Post Office.® This led to the
fragmentation of the manorial estate.

Barlow Hall

The manor hall was built in two main phases. The north-west wing was erected in the late
15th or early 16th centuries. It was a timber-framed structure with decorative close studding,
normally a signal of high status when found outside the south-eastern counties. The main
range was probably constructed in the early 17th century, perhaps by George Twisleton at
around the time he was created baronet in 1629. It was a brick structure with two cells and
two stories, and had a two-storyed porch on the east wall to which had been added a 13th-
century doorway with stiff-leaf capitals. This must have been the house with 17 hearths
occupied by Mrs. Sawer in 1672. In the 18th century, a new stairway was constructed in the
hall and, in the 19th century, the side elevation was re-built and a new roof added. The house
had been listed as Grade II*, but it was demolished in the early 1970s. The remaining
foundations, the 17th-century garden wall, and the adjacent earthwork remains of a garden
are a scheduled site.*!

Other Estates

There were other holdings in the township throughout the Middle Ages. One of the largest
must have been Drax Priory, which first acquired land here at its foundation in the 1130s,
when Ralph Paynel granted the priors one bovate of land here, which yielded 12d. annually
when the grant was confirmed a few decades later by Fulk Paynel 1.%% Likewise, in 1204-5,
Henry de Berlay granted common pasture here to Alan, prior of Drax, and later added
revenues from various lands.® In the same period, William Talun, sometime tenant of Roger
de Berlay, gave the Priory several gifts in Barlow, including land in Berlay Field, land with a
toft at Berlayflatt, an assart near the Ouse, an annual rent of 12d, and the service of Thurstan
de Mikelhirst.** Sometime later, John Ackewurd at Mikelhirst gave the service of Henry, son
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of Leticia of Berlay Waterhouse, at Mikel-Lending in Berlay Field.>> However, in 1535, Drax
priory held only 3s. of revenues and rents in Barlow.*

Selby Abbey also had holdings here. Richard de Berlay quitclaimed his common in Stayner
Park to the abbots in 1257, and John Ackewurd gave them his common rights in Eswode
(East Wood) at around the same time.*’ In addition, Robert, son of Edward de Berlay, granted
five acres of meadow to the abbey.*® It retained this land in the mid-15th century, though the
revenue declined at this time.*® The Abbots also held the tithes for the parish of Brayton, and
Barlow’s share was worth £3 13s. 4d., about a sixth of the parochial total, in 1535.%°

Robert de Crippellings had holdings here worth 11s. in his soke of Snaith in 1279-80, which
had been acquired by William Gramary, knight, by 1353, and later became part of the
Grammary Fee recorded in the 17th and 18th centuries.** There were also other small
landholdings recorded here in the medieval and early modern period, including a few parcels
of land owned by Sir George D’Arcy and his descendents in the 16th century, but they were
usually under 100a.%?

Thereafter, the Twisletons (later Thompsons) seem to be the sole landholders in the village
until the late 18th century. Richard Robinson, a local farmer, bought Barlow Hall (but not the
lordship of manor) and substantial lands in the 1780s.** By 1847, this estate comprised 457a.
split between the trustees of Robinson’s widow (415a.) and John Francis Carr (52a.).* The
only other landowners at this time were William Addinell, who held 5a. of pastureland, and
John Fletcher, a small farmer who had 12a. in hand and rented around 5a. more.*®

The vast majority of the land was still owned by the manorial lord at the valuation in 1910.
The only other landowners at this time were Reginald Parker of Selby (48a.) and James
Fletcher of Barlow (18a.).*® However, the Earl of Londesborough sold his lands here soon
after. As a result, the estate was broken-up and the number of owner-occupiers increased.*’
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